

INTERSECTIONALITY AND BURNOUT IN MEDICAL RESIDENCY PROGRAMS: NARRATIVES ACROSS  
THE NATION

by

Kassidy Johnson, Tolulope (Sofeso) Joaquim, Dr. Angela Lamson, Dr. Corin Davis

A Signature Honors Project Presented to the

Honors College

East Carolina University

In Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for

Graduation with Honors

by

Kassidy Johnson

Greenville, NC

November, 2023

Approved by:

(Dr. Angela Lamson)

(Human Development and Family Science Department/College of Health and Human  
Performance)

# Intersectionality and Burnout in Medical Residency Programs: Narratives Across the Nation

Tolulope (Sofeso) Joaquim<sup>1</sup>, Cassidy Johnson<sup>2</sup>, Angela Lamson<sup>1</sup>, Corin Davis<sup>1</sup>

## Abstract

Burnout impacts up to 75% of medical residents in the United States. Although nearly half of active medical residents in the U.S. identify as individuals with intersecting underrepresented identities including racial, ethnic minority and sexual orientation, very little is known about their unique needs and factors that help retain them throughout medical residency. This article aims to begin filling the gap in the literature regarding how medical residents with intersecting underrepresented identities experience burnout during their residency education in the US and begin exploring protective factors that alleviate burnout rates. The data for this study came from 27 participants who were selected for qualitative interviews and the following themes emerged as having influence on how medical residents with intersecting underrepresented identities experienced burnout: Healthcare culture, additive stress, the role of exhaustion, cynicism, and inefficacy and the influence of discrimination. Additionally, nine subthemes emerged from these themes. Medical residency programs and hospital systems should consider the ways in which their discrimination policies, wellness programs, and diverse leadership structure or the lack thereof impacts burnout rates in medical residents with multiple intersecting underrepresented identities.

## Key Words

underrepresented, burnout, intersectionality, medical residents, US medical residency programs

<sup>1</sup>East Carolina University, Greenville, NC, USA. Department of Human Development and Family Science

<sup>2</sup> East Carolina University, Greenville, NC, USA. Department of Biology

## Corresponding author(s):

Angela Lamson, East Carolina University, 610 E. 10<sup>th</sup> Street, Greenville, NC 27858, USA. Email: lamsona@ecu.edu

Tolulope (Sofeso) Joaquim, East Carolina University, 610 E. 10<sup>th</sup> Street, Greenville, NC 27858, USA. Email: sofesot22@students.ecu.edu

Kassidy Johnson, East Carolina University, 610 E. 10<sup>th</sup> Street, Greenville, NC 27858, USA. Email: johnsonk20@students.ecu.edu

Corin Davis, East Carolina University, 610 E. 10<sup>th</sup> Street, Greenville, NC 27858, USA. Email: daviscor19@students.ecu.edu

Commented [LA1]: This will need to follow APA format for authors and affiliation. See title page requirements per the journal.

Burnout among healthcare professionals has gained significant attention, particularly throughout the past decade (Ishak et al., 2013; Shanafelt et al., 2015; Reith, 2018; Shechter and Norful, 2022; Burrowes et al., 2023). Medical residents are especially prone to developing burnout at rates greater than professionals in other fields (Dimitriu et al., 2020). Medical residents are exposed to high-stress situations daily, which does contribute to burnout. According to Maslach et al., burnout is defined as “a prolonged response to chronic emotional and interpersonal stressors on the job, including the three dimensions of exhaustion, cynicism, and inefficacy” (2001. p. 399).

A 2021 report from the Association of American Medical Colleges (AAMC), showed that there are approximately 144,660 active medical residents across the United States. LGBTQ+ residents make up approximately 10.07% of U.S. medical residents (Wang et al., 2020) and White non-Hispanic residents make up 50.0% percent of this population, 21.8% of medical residents identify as Asian, 7.8% as Hispanic, 5.8% as Black or African American, 0.6% as American Indian or Alaska Native, and 0.2% as Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander (these statistics do not include international students and identified as coming from multiple races (AAMC, 2021). While nearly half of all medical residents identify as a racial or ethnic minority, very little is known about their unique needs and factors that help to retain them throughout their residency.

It has been documented that historically marginalized medical residents experience higher rates of attrition during residency in contrast to than their white counterparts (Attrition Rates: White non-Hispanic 0.88%, Asian 1.11%, Hispanic/Latino 1.82%, Black 1.22%, American Indian/Alaska Native 1.21%; Lu et al., 2019). In addition, researchers have indicated that burnout impacts up to 75% of medical residents in the United States (Ishak et al., 2009;

Commented [LA2]: Cite healthcare burnout research from 2013ish, 2018ish, and 2022/2023ish.

Commented [LA3]: Can we really say this? There is no evidence here to suggest this to be true.

I like the sentence but we need more to reflect its truth.

Schrijver, 2016). Researchers have cited that residents face a lacking healthy work-life balance, fear of failure, and insufficient residency compensation (Murphy, 2018); combined, these factors highlight the need to learn more about the needs and concerns of historically marginalized residents.

The lack of literature on historically marginalized medical residents creates a gap in the literature not only about individual social locations such as race, ethnicity, gender identity, and sexual orientation, but also a gap in understanding how different social locations intersect with one another in relation to residents' experiences. This gap led to the research question the authors address in this article; "How do medical residents with multiple intersecting underrepresented identities experience burnout in residency programs?"

Commented [LA4]: I would find a way to now transition into the research question for this article.

### Theory

This study was grounded in the theory of intersectionality (Crenshaw, 1989). The theoretical framework of intersectionality was first introduced by Kimberly Crenshaw in 1989, describing the intersection of racial and gender discrimination. This framework helps to identify the experiences of individuals possessing multiple minoritized identities for example identifying both as woman and as African American. This framework punctuates how our many social locations contribute to our experiences in ways that are not wholly or systemically captured when only looked at through a single social location. Some social locations that individuals can identify with include, race, ethnicity, sexual orientation, gender identity, sex, socioeconomic

Commented [LA5]: cite here

status, age, ability, insured, employment status, religion, citizenship, and nationality to name a few.

### **Literature Review**

Although there were 139,848 medical residents reported by the AAMC in 2019-2020 and 50.2% of those residents were individuals with intersecting underrepresented identities, few research studies address the experiences of underrepresented medical residents. In this study, the authors have chosen to focus primarily on underrepresented race/ethnicity, sexual orientation, and gender identity/sex, and the impact of these identities on how medical residents experience burnout.

#### **Minoritized medical residents' experiences of burnout**

Exhaustion, cynicism, and inefficacy, the three key constructs of burnout can occur in different ways for medical residents depending on their specific minoritized identities. Research by Spataro et al. (2016) found that burnout and coping mechanisms for medical residents differ based on gender with results showing that women experience higher burnout levels (30%) compared to men (15%). This study mentioned that women used self-blame more frequently as a way of coping which often served as a way of coping with emotional exhaustion. Furthermore, a survey from a study on woman oncology residents showed only 5% of woman residents showed no symptoms of burnout and highlighted underrepresentation, mentorship needs, bias and harassment, and gender-based obstacles (e.g., pregnancy and motherhood) as some areas of impacting women oncology residents' burnout rates (Osborn et al., 2019).

Heiderscheit et al. (2022) found out that although the LGBTQ+ general surgery medical residents in their study reported similar rates of burnout to non-LGBTQ+ residents, they also did report having more thoughts about leaving the residency program. The authors highlighted

increased suicidality among LGBTQ+ surgery residents as being correlated with mistreatment. Similarly, in a qualitative study Osseo-Asare et al. (2018) addressed minoritized physicians' views on the role that their racial/ethnic identity played in their residency experiences (i.e., participants identified as Black, Hispanic, and Native American). The authors highlighted three major themes in participants of this study: experiencing a daily barrage of microaggressions and bias, being tasked as race/ethnicity ambassadors, and the challenge of negotiating professional and personal identity while seen as an "other." All these factors impact levels of exhaustion, cynicism, and feelings of inefficacy in medical residents of minoritized identities.

#### **Other social locations of minoritized medical residents**

A study on medical students, residents, and physicians explored the experiences in medicine of those who identified as being "not from an advantaged background" or those who identified with lower socio-economic backgrounds (Conway-Hicks & de Groot, 2019). They found that professional identity development may differ based on one's family's socioeconomic status. Although researchers have assessed pertinent issues among marginalized residents, they do not appear to address the experiences of medical residents who identify with two or more underrepresented intersecting identities (for example, residents that identify as Black and woman or Hispanic and gay). The purpose of this study is to understand how medical residents who represent multiple intersecting underrepresented identities experience burnout in residency. More specifically, how do medical residents with minoritized ethnicities, sexual orientations, and gender identities experience burnout in comparison with their counterparts who hold more privileged identities?

#### **Methodology**

**Sample.** This study used data from a parent study that was grounded on a phenomenological design to analyze the narratives of historically marginalized and systemically oppressed medical residents. The parent study consisted of two phases (quantitative and qualitative) for data collection and analysis. For the quantitative portion of the parent study, 195 medical residents were 18 and older, fluent in English, had access to the internet and their email, and identified as a racial or ethnic minority, LGBTQ+, or a woman. Out of those 195 participants, 27 of these participants are included in the sample for the qualitative portion of the parent study. The data for this study came from the 27 participants that were selected for the qualitative interviews. Participants were medical residents than ranged in year, program, specialties from across the United States.

### **Measures**

**Informed Consent.** Participants were sent consent forms through email for the qualitative data portions. Participants for the qualitative portion signed a consent form specific to the qualitative portion of the parent study. Participants also consented for their interviews to be recorded through Webex, which was approved by the university's IRB (UMCIRB 21-001843). At the beginning of each interview, the researcher reviewed the consent forms and gave the participant a chance to ask any questions about the procedure before the interview was conducted.

**Qualitative Interviews.** The qualitative interview questions are relevant to the participants' experiences with burnout and protective factors present during their residency. The interviewer followed a qualitative interview guide which provided open-ended questions about burnout, harassment, discrimination, personal protective factors, and compassion fatigue. After asking each open-ended question, the interviewer would probe for more information about that

Commented [LA6]: This is too far of a stretch. This was not part of the initial study and thus must be written to represent reality.

resident's experience. By probing for extra information, the interviewer would gain a well-rounded understanding of the resident's phenomenon. After each interview was conducted, the qualitative data was matched to each participant's recordings and transcripts through a coding system.

**Phenomenological Design.** The framework of the parent study was built on using a phenomenological approach for the qualitative data collection and analysis. The aim of phenomenology is to describe and determine the true nature of the human experience (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Since this study was grounded on phenomenology, the researcher had to ask probing and descriptive questions to gain a true depiction of each participant's experiences. To ensure that the researcher was not inserting personal beliefs or biases into the participants' narratives, the researcher had to defer all biases and remain neutral throughout the interview process. This is a crucial step since each participant has lived through their own unique experiences in diverse social locations. Both phenomenological inquiry and design were utilized in this study so that the researchers could better understand the phenomenon.

### ***Procedures***

With participant consent, the researcher audio-recorded each interview. The researcher used a confidential and encrypted transcription service to deidentify the transcripts. Participant privacy was ensured by allowing the research team members, who had been previously approved by the university's IRB, access to these encrypted transcripts. To ensure confidentiality, all participants' names and identifiable markers were kept separate from their recordings. Since the participants' names were kept separate from the recordings, each participant was given a unique code number. All of the raw data, which includes transcripts, recordings, contact information,



and codes were stored on a password-protected network that only approved team members had access to.

### ***Data Analysis***

A phenomenological approach was used to guide the methodology of this study and analyze the qualitative data. Since this was the approach used for the parent study, the researchers' goal was to thoroughly understand the residents' experiences by asking descriptive, probing interview questions about their residency.

To analyze the qualitative data for this study, Colaizzi's method of descriptive inquiry was used because of its thorough design. The unique design of Colaizzi's method led to an in-depth understanding of the participants' residency experiences.

Colaizzi's method included six steps. The first step was *familiarization* in which the research team read each interview in its full capacity to become familiar with each participant's story. The second step was *identifying significant statements* in which the research team returned to the interviews and extracted key phrases and statements that directly pertained to the phenomenon using line-by-line coding. The third step was *formulating meaning* in which key phrases and statements identified were further analyzed by looking at the context and intention of each statement. After formulating the meanings behind each statement, the key phrases and statements were clustered into themes and organized by the researcher in the fourth step which was *clustering themes*. Following the clustering of themes, the researcher wrote an exhaustive description incorporating each of the relevant themes in the fifth step which was *developing an exhaustive description*. The last step for this method was *producing the fundamental structure* in which the researcher took the essential points relevant to the phenomenon out of the exhaustive

description and developed the fundamental structure (Colaizzi, 1987). This method drove how the data was analyzed for the concluding results.

### **Results**

The aim for this study was to understand the burnout experiences of medical residents with multiple intersecting minoritized identities. The qualitative responses of 27 medical residents were analyzed to gather the following results. The authors conducted a content analysis based on the information from the parent study, specifically focusing on how medical residents with intersecting minoritized identities cope with burnout during their residency. Based on the results of the series of qualitative interviews, the authors found the following themes: (a) Healthcare Culture, (b) Additive Stress, (c) The Role of Exhaustion and Inefficacy, and (d) Influence of Discrimination/Harassment; additionally, 8 subthemes emerged. A description of each theme was derived (See Table 1), along with the number of participants who identified with that theme, and quotes from the interviews to support each theme.

#### **Healthcare Culture**

The theme “Healthcare Culture” described the ways that the healthcare system at large, even more than the medical residency program, impacted the experiences of people with multiple intersecting identities. This theme depicted medical residents' wellness experiences in their residency programs, how the hospital system protects itself, and how faculty/staff support or the lack thereof. These factors all play a role in burnout prevention for medical residents of multiple intersecting identities.

#### **Wellness**

The first subtheme, “Wellness,” speaks to medical residents’ experiences of the wellness program in their residency programs. Medical residents in this study shared these types of

Commented [LA7]: Please go through and clarify how each theme/subtheme contributed to or protected from burnout and how they relate to intersectionality.

experiences (n = 10) highlighting some strengths and weaknesses of their wellness experiences in residency. A lesbian woman identified one weakness of the wellness program in her residency, *"We have all these wellness sessions and stuff like this. I don't know how much this actually helps with burnout. I think we do a lot of things to put on paper to advertise, but I don't know how much is actually getting to the core issues that we deal with. Having a pizza party isn't going to help me with my depression, but I think being cognizant of what we go through, hearing us out."* Another resident who identified as a White, pansexual woman highlighted awareness of minority residents' experiences as a strength in her residency program, *"We have a committee designed to help us with wellness in its many forms, including efficiency. This year in particular, our faculty have been, I think, more aware of things that residents who identify as a minority group have experienced. And while they may not understand it perfectly, they're willing to try. And that felt better."* This quotation proposes that effective wellness programs or wellness days can help alleviate burnout for medical residents.

#### ***Cover their a\*\****

The second subtheme in relation to the hospital system is hospitals putting more of an emphasis on protecting themselves rather than protecting the well-being of their residents. Residents (n= 3) shared that the wellness programs put in place were more for the hospital's outward appearance rather than for the actual well-being of the residents. An Asian, gay man stated, *"So, I mean, let's be honest, some of these supposedly [00:21:30] burnout prevention things that they do, it's more just to satisfy a requirement and it doesn't really do much. It's just something that ACGME needed for the program to survive. But what the program actually is doing for burnout, like hiring more staff and changing around risk schedule to optimize the efficiency. So we all share the burden as equally as possible."* This resident clarified that while

the wellness programs are all for the hospital to cover their a\*\*, his program does try to hire more people or change the residents' schedules to alleviate burnout. An important first step to burnout prevention would be hospitals' emphasis on residents' wellbeing instead of creating programs that only exist for the sake of their reputation.

### ***Support from Faculty and Staff***

Thirdly, the "Support from Faculty and Staff" theme addressed the positive impact that hospitals, faculty, and staff have on the experiences of medical residents representing multiple intersecting identities. Many residents (n = 9) shared the ways that hospitals, faculty, and staff, help support and reduce the impact of burnout. An Asian and white pansexual man reported, "*My program director himself, and honestly pretty much the whole department, has been incredibly supportive. Even when I was at the worst of my burnout, nobody made an issue over taking the time off that I took off.*" Another resident, a Black straight woman responded, "*So, that was really a big part of me wanting to come to this program because I knew that there were people in high leadership positions like me, and that was really great to know that we had support from the top and then the associate program directors and everything too. By having that. So, that was a big part of me wanting to come to this program.*" This resident highlights how having a diverse faculty and staff brings a feeling of support to other minoritized residents.

### **The Influence of Discrimination/Harassment**

The theme "Influence of Discrimination/Harassment" described the ways that discrimination and harassment further a person's burnout. This theme depicted how microaggressions affect medical residents of multiple intersecting identities.

### ***Microaggressions***

Several residents (n = 6) reported acts of microaggressions during their residencies. A Hispanic straight man explained how microaggressions can contribute to burnout, *“Unfortunately, I feel sometimes you can become more burned out because you're thinking about those things in addition to the stressors of residency that everybody deals with. And so sometimes you can... the burnout out can just hit [00:35:00] harder or just feel like, 'Oh, my God. I have to do with this.' And these other things that are weighing on me emotionally when it comes to dealing with people, non people of color sometimes. Just like I said, there's always that you... dealing with harassment and discrimination. There's a part of you that has to use up some of your emotional reserve that you would normally use to deal with burnout. And so you just... I feel sometimes you become burned out quicker if that makes sense.”* This quote relates how a minoritized resident deals with extra stressors on top of harassment or discrimination and how that likely leads to burnout.

### **The Role of Exhaustion and Inefficacy**

The theme “The Role of Exhaustion and Inefficacy” described the way that minoritized residents experienced burnout in both their personal life and work life. When residents were asked if they had ever experienced burnout, they would share the warning signs that were specific to them that would tell them that they were facing a period of burnout.

### ***Going Through the Motions***

This subtheme indirectly came up during the interviews (n = 4) when the residents would relate their personal experiences with burnout and how it affected them. A White pansexual woman explained how her days would feel when she was going through a period of burnout, *“Because there's definitely been periods where I'm just kind of just going through motions, not putting myself into it. Just kind of showing up. Getting through the work. Checking all the boxes*

Commented [BCMS]: When there is dialogue within a quote, you're going to want to use single quotation marks: 'Oh, my God. I have to do with this.'

on the checklist. And going home.” This quote echoes what other residents would call burnout (n = 3). Throughout the interviews, residents viewed feeling unattached or pessimistic about cases as a warning sign for a burnout period.

### **Exhaustion**

This second subtheme speaks to residents who experienced exhaustion for any prolonged period of time (n = 7). A Black straight woman explained how exhaustion is a warning sign for burnout, *“Just mental and physical exhaustion. Like not looking forward to going to work, not feeling like you're getting any pleasure or any fulfillment out of what you're doing. Yeah. That's what I feel like burnout looks like.”* Although residency is known to be difficult, feelings of exhaustion or not wanting to come into work for any amount of time are signs of burnout.

### **Inefficacy**

The final subtheme relates feeling as though you are not enough, doubting yourself, or feelings of inefficacy (n = 3). A white gay man stated, *“If you misstep or do something maybe not quite perfect, then people look at that as incompetence or, ‘Oh, well he or she or they are this, or they're that.’ And then you start to doubt yourself. And then burnout, not only from your career but just from all the doubt from people around you and then always feeling like you have to kind of hold up your community with you.”* This quote indicates that feelings of doubt or inefficiency can lead to a period of burnout.

### **Additive Stress**

Residency is full of high stressors, this is a well-known fact. For minoritized residents, there are multiple stressors that can slowly add up over time and lead to a burnout period. Many residents (n = 4) stated that they experienced personal difficulties, familial difficulties, and a feeling of being an impostor during their residency. A white gay man stated *“But I think that just*

Commented [BCM9]: See previous comment

*having to bear that burden of your community and being that person to take the fall, which is probably going to be harder than people who aren't underrepresented, just because you have that other piece and maybe some of it's just your own self-doubt, but then other people over analyzing things and then that can make you just get more exhausted, more exhausted, and that would lead to burnout I think. So, I think that definitely does have something over time.”*

### ***Having to Work Harder***

Many residents with multiple intersecting identities, reported that they felt as if they had to work harder to prove themselves to not only their counterparts but their supervisors as well. A White lesbian woman stated *"I feel like I have more to prove than my other residents. So I will get up earlier, and I'll be rounding on patients two or three hours before everyone else to try to prove that I am just as capable as they are."* Getting up earlier and feeling as though you have to work harder to justify why you deserve to be in that residency program will take its toll on anybody and eventually lead to burnout. Another resident, an Asian straight woman stated *"Well, I feel like maybe I have to fight a little more to be heard. So it gets a little more tiring. Right? And when you care, I talk to some people, and it's like, oh, they're not doing. They're not going out of way and bending over backwards with their patients. But at the beginning, I was trying to get them everything they needed. And then them not listening, it's like, well, what's the point? So I think it's been an extra effort and kind of having to fight more to try to... Maybe it's advocating, maybe standing up for yourself, standing up for your patients. And then that's, I think, it's a lot of energy spent."* This quote shines a light on the fact that minoritized residents with multiple intersecting identities experience unique stressors such as working harder and advocating for themselves and their patients.

## **Discussion**

Previous research had shown that burnout affects medical residents and more specifically residents of minoritized identities (Spataro et al., 2016; Osborn et al., 2019; Heiderscheid et al., 2022; Osseo-Asare et al., 2018). However, these research articles did not account for the impact of burnout on medical residents with multiple intersecting minoritized identities. This was the gap in the literature that the researchers of this study sought to address. The goal of this study was to understand how residents with multiple intersecting identities experienced burnout in their programs. To gain a full picture of these residents' experiences, a phenomenological analysis was conducted. With this study's phenomenological narrative, each resident's story was heard, and the authors were able to learn about these residents' experiences.

The results of the study indicated that larger hospital systems and residency programs for residents with multiple intersecting minority identities significantly impact their experiences. Wellness programs that meet the needs of medical residents and are driven by a sincere interest in the well-being of these residents were emphasized as impacting how medical residents experience burnout. Additionally, having a diverse faculty and hospital leadership, with individuals of multiple intersecting minoritized identities, could have a significant impact on the feeling of support that these medical residents have while in residency. These factors, if considered by larger systems such as hospital systems and residency programs, can positively impact medical residents with multiple intersecting identities.

The results pointed to many implications for the future of healthcare. Medical providers do not receive the support that they need for their mental health to prevent burnout. Residents specifically need support because they are not only medical providers, but students as well. Residency is also difficult because they have to learn about their own beliefs, values, and biases that are not based on evidence-based treatment. Giving these residents more opportunities to



process their own feelings and beliefs is essential for their well-being. There need to be education policies set in place for residents so that they are able to feel more welcome when they first start their programs and be the best provider that they can be for their patients. There also needs to be beneficial wellness programs for these residents as well. There are wellness programs available to residents struggling, but the programs are merely lectures about burnout. Instead, each resident should have scheduled wellness days on a rotational basis. Being able to have one day to catch up on rest, relationships, and errands will help residents not drown under the pressure and stressors of residency. Residents also need to feel appreciated and heard. The theme “Support from Faculty and Staff” showed that when residents feel seen and heard, their mood completely changes. If everybody could feel seen as human beings, regardless of their status, we would see less burnout, better patient care, and an inclusive environment.

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

Some strengths of the study include the methodological rigor that Colaizzi’s method of descriptive inquiry offers (Wirihana et al., 2018). The intersectionality framework of the study extended the conversation on burnout among medical residents and addressed its impact on medical residents with multiple intersecting minoritized identities. The results from the study also provided some practical steps that healthcare systems and residency programs can take to reduce burnout rates in medical residents.

Although the current study provides important contributions to the written works on medical residents with multiple intersecting identities, there are limitations to this study. This study only had participants who identified as cisgender women, part of the LGBTQ+ community (lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, etc), or a racial/ethnic minority and did not consider other intersectional identities such as age, nationality, ability, socioeconomic status, primary

language, location of medical training, etc. Future researchers should explore marginalizing experiences of a greater population of historically marginalized/systemically oppressed residents to further generalize these findings. Furthermore, due to the method of sampling for the study (i.e., snowball sampling; using emails to residents and residency coordinators) greater generalization related to the area of the country, medical specialty, program type, and other regional factors could be beneficial to generalizing these findings to all historically marginalized/systemically oppressed residents.

### **Conclusion**

The findings of this study demonstrate that medical residents with intersecting minoritized identities experience burnout in unique ways compared to those who hold more privileged identities. Participants desired attention to the role of the larger hospital culture, highlighted the need for policies that protect healthcare staff and providers from discrimination and harassment, wellness programs with a direct focus on medical residents' needs, and highlighted the importance of having diverse faculty/hospital leadership as ways of combatting burnout in residency. These factors are to be considered for healthcare systems and residency programs to begin addressing attrition rates and the well-being of medical residents, especially those with multiple intersecting minoritized identities.

### **References**

Association of American Medical Colleges (AAMC). (2021). Report on Residents [Annual Report]. <https://www.aamc.org/data-reports/students-residents/report/report-residents>  
Colaizzi, P. (1978). Psychological research as a phenomenologist views it. In R. S. Valle & M.

Commented [LA10]: Check spelling here and in text

King (Eds.), *Existential Phenomenological Alternatives for Psychology* (pp. 48-71). New York, NY: Open University Press.

Conway-Hicks, S., & de Groot, J. M. (2019). Living in two worlds: Becoming and being a doctor among those who identify as “not from an advantaged background”. *Current Problems in Pediatric and Adolescent Health Care*, 49(4), 92-101.  
<https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cppeds.2019.03.006>

Crenshaw, K. (1989). Demarginalizing the intersection of race and sex: Black feminist critique of antidiscrimination doctrine, feminist theory and antiracist politics. *University of Chicago Legal Forum*, 1989, 139–168.

Davis, C. E., & East Carolina University. Department of Human Development and Family Sci. (2022). *Recruitment, Retention, and Intersectionality: Recognizing the voices of historically marginalized and systemically oppressed medical residents*. East Carolina University.

Dimitriu, M. C., Pantea-Stoian, A., Smaranda, A. C., Nica, A. A., Carap, A. C., Constantin, V. D., ... & Socea, B. (2020). Burnout syndrome in Romanian medical residents in time of the COVID-19 pandemic. *Medical Hypotheses*, 144, 109972. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2020.109972>

Heiderscheid, E. A., Schlick, C. J. R., Ellis, R. J., Cheung, E. O., Irizarry, D., Amortegui, D., Eng, J., Sosa, J. A., Hoyt, D. B., Buyske, J., Nasca, T. J., Bilimoria, K. Y., & Hu, Y. Y. (2022). Experiences of LGBTQ+ Residents in US General Surgery Training Programs. *JAMA surgery*, 157(1), 23–32. <https://doi.org/10.1001/jamasurg.2021.5246>

Ishak, W.W., Lederer, S., Mandili, C., Nikravesh, R., Seligman, L., Vasa, M., Ogunyemi, &

- Bernstein, C. A. (2009). Burnout during residency training: A literature review. *Journal of Graduate Medical Education*, 1(2), 236–242. <https://dx.doi.org/10.4300%2FJGME-D-09-00054.1>
- Ishak, W., Nikraves, R., Lederer, S., Perry, R., Ogunyemi, D., & Bernstein, C. (2013). Burnout in medical students: a systematic review. *The clinical teacher*, 10(4), 242–245. <https://doi.org/10.1111/tct.12014>
- Kwah, J., Weintraub, J., Fallar, R., & Ripp, J. (2016). The effect of burnout on medical errors and professionalism in first-year internal medicine residents. *Journal of Graduate Medical Education*, 8(4), 597–600. <https://doi.org/10.4300/JGME-D-15-00457.1>
- \*Lu, D. W., Hartman, N. D., Druck, J., Mitzman, J., & Strout, T. D. (2019). Why residents quit: National rates of and reasons for attrition among emergency medicine physicians in training. *The Western Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 20(2), 351–356. <https://doi.org/10.5811/westjem.2018.11.40449>
- Maslach, C., Schaufeli, W. B., & Leiter, M. P. (2001). Job burnout. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 52(1), 397–422. <https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.397>
- Murphy, B. (2018). Survey reveals top 6 challenges faced in medical residency. *American Medical Association*. <https://www.ama-assn.org/medical-residents/medical-resident-wellness/survey-reveals-top-6-challenges-faced-medical-residency>
- Osborn, V. W., Doke, K., Griffith, K. A., Jones, R., Lee, A., Maquilan, G., ... & Jagsi, R. (2019). A survey study of woman radiation oncology residents' experiences to inform change. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology, Physics*, 104(5), 999–1008. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp.2019.05.013>
- Osseo-Asare, A., Balasuriya, L., Huot, S. J., Keene, D., Berg, D., Nunez-Smith, M., ... &

- Boatright, D. (2018). Minority resident physicians' views on the role of race/ethnicity in their training experiences in the workplace. *JAMA Network Open*, *1*(5), e182723-e182723. <https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.2723>
- Prins, J. T., Hoekstra-Weebers, J. E. H. M., Gazendam-Donofrio, S. M., van de Wiel, H. B. M., Sprangers, F., Jaspers, F. C. A., & van der Heijden, F. M. M. A. (2007). The role of social support in burnout among Dutch medical residents. *Psychology, Health & Medicine*, *12*(1), 1–6. <https://doi.org/10.1080/13548500600782214>
- Schrijver, I. (2016). Pathology in the medical profession?: Taking the pulse of physician wellness and burnout. *Archives of Pathology & Laboratory Medicine*, *140*(9), 976–982.
- Shanafelt, T. D., Bradley, K. A., Wipf, J. E., & Back, A. L. (2002). Burnout and self-reported patient care in an internal medicine residency program. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *136*(5), 358-367. <https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-136-5-200203050-00008>
- Shanafelt, T. D., Hasan, O., Dyrbye, L. N., Sinsky, C., Satele, D., Sloan, J., & West, C. P. (2015). Changes in Burnout and Satisfaction with Work-Life Balance in Physicians and the General US Working Population Between 2011 and 2014. *Mayo Clinic proceedings*, *90*(12), 1600–1613. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2015.08.023>
- Reith T. P. (2018). Burnout in United States Healthcare Professionals: A Narrative Review. *Cureus*, *10*(12), e3681. <https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.3681>
- Spataro, B. M., Tilstra, S. A., Rubio, D. M., & McNeil, M. A. (2016). The Toxicity of Self-Blame: Sex Differences in Burnout and Coping in Internal Medicine Trainees. *Journal of Women's Health*, *25*(11), 1147–1152. <https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2015.5604>
- Wang, K., Burke, S. E., Przedworski, J. M., Wittlin, N. M., Onyeador, I. N., Dovidio, J. F.,

Dyrbye, L. N., Herrin, J., & van Ryn, M. (2020). A comparison of depression and anxiety symptoms between sexual minority and heterosexual medical residents: A report from the medical trainee CHANGE study. *LGBT Health*, 7(6), 332–339.

<https://doi.org/10.1089/lgbt.2020.0027>

Wirihana, L., Welch, A., Williamson, M., Christensen, M., Bakon, S., & Craft, J. (2018). Using Colaizzi's method of data analysis to explore the experiences of nurse academics teaching on satellite campuses. *Nurse Researcher*, 25(4), 30-34.

<https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.2018.e1516>

Yeo, H., Viola, K., Berg, D., Lin, Z., Nunez-Smith, M., Cammann, C., ... & Curry, L. A. (2009). Attitudes, training experiences, and professional expectations of US general surgery residents: a national survey. *Jama*, 302(12), 1301-1308.

Commented [LA11]: Check spelling and Capitalization